FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/27/2018 2:16 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/29/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK 96017-8

NO.

Court of Appeals no. 75072-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

DAVID ZACHERY MORGAN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney** Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

III. ISSUES

- (1) While in a place that they had a right to be, police seized evidence that was in plain view. Was this seizure illegal because police knew in advance that the evidence was present?
- (2) When police have probable cause that items have evidentiary value, is a "plain view" seizure nonetheless invalid if the incriminating nature of the evidence is not "immediately apparent"?
- (3) Police observed items whose evidentiary value could readily be destroyed by cross-contamination. The items were accessible to both the defendant and third parties. Was seizure of these items justified by exigent circumstances?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant (respondent), David Morgan, was found guilty by a jury of attempted first degree murder and first degree arson.¹ 1 CP 58, 61. The evidence at trial is summarized in the Brief of Respondent at pages 2-10. Since this petition focuses on the seizure of evidence, only the evidence at the pre-trial hearing will be summarized.

On November 16, 2015, there was a fire at a house in Lynnwood. The house was almost completely burned. Two people were removed from the house and taken to hospitals. Brenda Welch was transported to Harborview Medical Center. The defendant, David Morgan, was transported to Swedish Edmonds Hospital. Police officers were sent to both locations. 1 CP 314-16; 1 RP 63-66. Both people smelled like gasoline. 1 RP 93.

At Harborview, Officer Reorda learned that Ms. Welch had multiple skull fractures and numerous laceration to the head. These injuries were not common for someone who had been in a house fire. 1 CP 314.

¹ The jury also found the defendant guilty of first degree assault. 1 CP 59. This conviction merged with the attempted murder conviction. 15 RP 2844. The defendant was therefore sentenced for only attempted murder and arson. 1 CP 32-45.

At Swedish Edmonds, the defendant was questioned by Officer Breault and by Dets. Cohnheim and Jorgensen. He told them that he was watching TV when he got hit with something on the side of his head. He smelled something and went downstairs. He saw Ms. Welch standing near a door. She was on fire. He tried to rip the sweater off her body, because it was covered in flames. He tried to help her, but he "couldn't take it anymore," so he left the house. 1 CP 316; 1 RP 98-99.

Officer Breault noticed that the defendant's clothing had been placed in plastic shopping bags. They were on the back counter in the room where the defendant was being treated. He was aware that gasoline and similar substances can dissipate rapidly. There could also be cross-contamination involving any evidence that was on the clothing. 1 RP 154-55. After the detectives left, Officer Reorda arrived at the hospital. He and Officer Breault seized the clothing and packaged it in bags that would prevent the dissipation of volatile chemicals. 1 RP 159-60; 1 CP 314-15, 317.

The defendant was charged with attempted first degree murder, first degree arson, and first degree assault. 1 CP 182-83. He moved to suppress evidence obtained from the clothing. 1 CP

298-317. The State argued that the seizure of the clothing was justified by exigent circumstances and by the "plain view" doctrine. 1 CP 213-16.

The trial court concluded that discovery of the clothing was not "inadvertent." It therefore held that the seizure was not justified under the "plain view" doctrine. 1 RP 180-81. The court held, however, that the seizure was justified by exigent circumstances. It therefore denied the motion to suppress evidence. 1 RP 180-83.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals rejected both justifications for the seizure. It held that there was an insufficient showing of exigent circumstances. Slip op. at 21-25. Because Officer Breault had been directed to seize the clothing, his discovery of the evidence was not "inadvertent." Additionally, because Officer Breault had not himself smelled gasoline on the clothing, "the incriminating character of the evidence was not in plain view." Slip op. at 25-26. The Court of Appeals therefore reversed the conviction and ordered suppression of the evidence.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION REFLECTS ONGOING CONFUSION ABOUT THE "INADVERTENCE" REQUIREMENT OF THE "PLAIN VIEW" DOCTRINE.

This case presents an important issue concerning the requirements for seizure of evidence under the "plain view" doctrine. The decisions of this court reflect confusion about the requirements for that doctrine. In particular, it is unclear whether "inadvertence" exists as an independent requirement for a valid "plain view" seizure.

This court's early decisions on "plain view" applied three requirements:

(1) a prior justification for intrusion, (2) an inadvertent discovery of incriminating evidence, and (3) immediate knowledge by the police that they have evidence before them.

State v. Daugherty, 94 Wn.2d 263, 267, 616 P.2d 649 (1980), citing State v. Murray, 84 Wn.2d 527, 533-34, 527 P.2d 1303 (1974). These requirements were derived from Federal Fourth Amendment cases. Murray, 84 Wn.2d at 533, quoting Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 466, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 29 L.Ed.2d 564 (1971).

Later, however, the United States Supreme Court held that "inadvertence" is not a separate requirement under the Fourth Amendment. Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 110 S.Ct. 2301, 110 L.Ed.2d 112 (1990). Since Horton, this court's decisions have been inconsistent. Some cases have continued to apply the three-part standard set out in Daugherty. E.g., State v. Kull, 155 Wn.2d 80, 85 ¶ 8, 118 P.3d 207 (2005). Other cases have applied a two-part test:

A plain view search is legal when the police (1) have a valid justification to be in an otherwise protected area and (2) are immediately able to realize the evidence they see is associated with criminal activity.

State v. Hatchie, 161 Wn.2d 390, 395 ¶ 11, 166 P.3d 698 (2007); see State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 583, 62 P.2d 489 (2003). The conflicting cases were summarized by the Court of Appeals in an unpublished decision in State v. Bunn, 197 Wn. App. 1004, 2016 WL 7109125 (2016).²

The seeming inconsistency may be explained by this court's analysis in <u>State v. Myers</u>, 117 Wn.2d 332, 346, 815 P.2d 761 (1991). The court there cited the three-part standard for "plain view" seizures. <u>Id.</u> at 346. It then explained the "inadvertence" requirement:

² Because this decision is unpublished, it has no precedential value. This court may give it such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1(a).

Discovery is inadvertent if the officer discovered the evidence while in a position that does not infringe upon any reasonable expectation of privacy, and did not take any further unreasonable steps to find the evidence from that position. The requirement that a discovery be inadvertent does not mean that an officer must act with a completely neutral, benign attitude when investigating suspicious activity.

<u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). Under <u>Myers</u>, inadvertence is thus not an independent requirement. If the other two requirements are satisfied, "inadvertence" is satisfied as well.

Under a dictionary definition. "inadvertent" means "unintentional" or "inattentive." http://www.dictionary.com/browse/ inadvertent (visited 6/27/18); Webster's New Twentieth Century Dictionary at 919 (Unabridged 2nd ed. 1978). Myers makes it clear that the discovery of evidence need not be "inadvertent" in that sense for a plain view seizure to be valid. In Myers, police received a tip that a suspect was selling drugs from his home. They went there to investigate. After obtaining the suspect's permission to enter the house, they went inside and saw drugs, which they seized. That seizure was not unintentional or inattentive—the officers found exactly what they had hoped to find. Yet the seizure was valid under the "plain view" doctrine:

Because [the suspect] consented to the officers entering his home, they had a prior justification for

their intrusion. The officers' discovery "inadvertent." They did not take further unreasonable steps to find the contraband: the items were on a table in the room by which the officers passed at [the suspect's1 invitation. The officers immediately recognized the items as contraband. The officers did not violate the "plain view" doctrine when they seized the [contraband] in [the suspect's] living room.

Myers, 117 Wn.2d at 347.

In the present case, it was undisputed that the officers were legitimately present in the hospital room. The trial court agreed that, without further examination of the clothing, the officers could infer that it contained evidence. 1 RP 196-97. The trial court nonetheless held that because the officers expected to find the evidence, the discovery was not "inadvertent." 1 RP 180-81. The Court of Appeals reasoned as follows:

Here, Officer Breault did not decide to seize the clothing when he entered Morgan's room or at any time during the next few hours. Instead, he testified that he may have been directed by other officers—none of whom testified at the hearing—to seize the bag. His testimony shows that instead of making the independent decision to seize incriminating evidence in plain view, he assisted another officer who came to collect the clothing in a special arson bag. None of the authorities of which we are aware apply to this fact pattern.

Slip op. at 26.

The basis for this analysis is unclear. None of this court's decisions hold that a "plain view" seizure must be conducted at the

earliest possible moment. Nor has this court ever distinguished between seizures made on an officer's own initiative and those made at the direction of others. These distinctions could be important if the seizure had to be "inadvertent" in the sense of "unintentional". Myers makes it clear, however, that this is not a requirement.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with Myers. Both that decision and the trial court's decision reflect continuing confusion about the "inadvertence" requirement. That confusion has been enhanced by this court's seemingly-inconsistent formulations of the "plain view" doctrine." Clarifying that doctrine presents a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of substantial public interest. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION ALSO REFLECTS CONFUSION RESULTING FROM A SEEMING INCONSISTENCY IN THIS COURT'S FORMULATION OF THE "IMMEDIATE RECOGNITION" REQUIREMENT OF THE "PLAIN VIEW" DOCTRINE.

The Court of Appeals decision also raises a second issue about application of the "plain view" doctrinez: the "immediate recognition" requirement. That requirement has been stated by this court in varying ways. According to some cases, the police must

immediately know that they have evidence before them. <u>Daugherty</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 267; <u>Kull</u>, 155 Wn.2d at 85 ¶ 8. Other cases say that the police must be immediately able to realize that the evidence is associated with criminal activity. <u>Hatchie</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 395 ¶ 11. There does not appear to be any significant difference between these formulations. Under them, the requirement was satisfied in this case. In particular, the seizing officers were aware that gasoline had been smelled on the defendant's clothing, which would be evidence of the crime of arson. 1 RP 93.

The Court of Appeals, however, relied on a different formulation set out in <u>State v. Hudson</u>, 124 Wn.2d 107, 874 P.2d 160 (1994). <u>Hudson</u> was a "plain feel" case. While conducting a weapons frisk, a police officer felt an item that he believed to be a baggie of cocaine. Citing <u>Myers</u>, this court said that a "plain view" seizure would be proper if "the incriminating character of the item is immediately recognizable." <u>Hudson</u>, 124 Wn.2d at 107-14. The court then went on to explain this requirement:

[P]robable cause is required to satisfy the immediate recognition prong of the "plain view" doctrine. Objects are immediately apparent when, considering the surrounding circumstances, the police can reasonably conclude that the substance before them is incriminating evidence.

<u>ld.</u> at 118.

In the present case, the Court of Appeals determined that the seizing officer had not smelled the scent of gasoline or observed blood or other relevant crime information. The Court therefore concluded that "the incriminating character of the evidence was not in plain view." Slip op. at 27. This is a misapplication of the doctrine. There is no requirement that the officers directly observe incriminating evidence at the time of the seizure. There is only a requirement that they have probable cause based on the surrounding circumstances. <u>Hudson</u>, 124 Wn.2d at 118. The circumstances of this case, including the previously-detected odor of gasoline, provided that probable cause.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the probable-cause standard set out in <u>Hudson</u>. It appears, however, that this court's re-formulation of the standard in <u>Hudson</u> has confused the Court of Appeals. This court should grant review to dispel that confusion. Review should again be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

C. THIS COURT COULD SHOULD ALSO REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS' MISAPPLICATION OF THE "EXIGENT CIRCUMSTANCES" DOCTRINE.

This court should also review the Court of Appeals application of the "exigent circumstances" doctrine. With regard to that doctrine, the Court stated the correct legal standard. The Court made, however, a serious factual error in applying that standard.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, a warrantless seizure is justified if the delay inherent in securing a warrant would permit the destruction of evidence. This is a case-by-case determination that takes into account the gravity of the offense. State v. Smith, 165 Wn.2d 511, 517-18 ¶¶ 15-16, 199 P.3d 396 (2009). The court also recognized that the police had a legitimate concern that trace evidence on the defendant's clothing could be contaminated. The court believed, however, that this was an insufficient basis for the seizure.

The bagged clothing remained undisturbed for hours on a shelf in the hospital room, while Morgan was almost constantly in the presence of police officers. He was not going anywhere. There simply is no evidence to support the view that anyone would have been successful in contaminating the evidence without the police being able to stop them.

Slip op. at 23.

This conclusion mis-states the record. To being with, the defendant was *not* "constantly in the presence of police officers." These events took place in a hospital. Medical personnel entered the room as necessary to perform their duties. When they did, *the officers left the room*. 1 RP 69, 103.

As Officer Breault testified, items of evidence can become cross-contaminated. 1 RP 154. Moving the bags carelessly would cause the clothing items to rub against each other. If a member of the hospital staff needed to use the counter for something else, he or she could pick the bags up and move them—thereby obscuring the nature and source of trace evidence. The defendant could do the same when officers were out of the room. Contrary to what the Court of Appeals concluded, the only effective way to protect the evidentiary value of the clothing was to seize it as soon as possible.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with <u>Smith</u>. Its misapplication of the "exigent circumstances" doctrine creates an issue of substantial public interest. Review of this issue should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

VI. CONCLUSION

This court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeal, and reinstate the trial court's judgment.