FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2018 4:28 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.: 96017-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

DAVID MORGAN,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

D. ARGUMENT

1. The State has failed to establish a basis for review.

Mr. Morgan's clothing was seized at the hospital without a warrant. The trial court rejected the State's argument that the "plain view" exception applied and the Court of Appeals agreed. RP 179-81; Slip Op. at 27.

The State argues this Court should grant review to evaluate whether, under the plain view exception, the discovery of evidence must be inadvertent, and the incriminating nature of the evidence must be immediately apparent. Petition at 1. The State's petition ignores the facts of Mr. Morgan's case and provides no valid basis for review.

a. As the Court of Appeals properly found, the facts presented by the State at the CrR 3.6 hearing did not demonstrate the "plain view" exception applied.

The evidence presented at the CrR 3.6 hearing in no way satisfied the plain view exception. *See* Slip Op. at 26 (noting that no authority had applied the plain view exception under the factual pattern presented in Mr. Morgan's case). Only one witness, Officer Christopher Breault, testified at the suppression hearing. Slip Op. at 18. Officer Breault did not make the decision to seize Mr. Morgan's clothing, which had been placed in

"several plastic shopping like bags" in Mr. Morgan's hospital room. RP 154; Slip Op. at 26. Instead, Officer Breault "testified he may have been directed by other officers – none of whom testified at the hearing – to seize the bag." Slip Op. at 26. His testimony revealed "that instead of making the independent decision to seize incriminating evidence in plain view, he assisted another officer who came to collect the clothing in a special arson bag." Slip Op. at 26.

The State does not contest the Court of Appeals' recitation of the facts presented at the CrR 3.6 hearing. Petition at 8. Because the officer who made the decision to seize Mr. Morgan's clothing did not testify, the facts presented at the CrR 3.6 hearing did not show what that officer knew or observed before making his decision. *See* Slip Op. at 26. Thus, even if the State were correct in its argument that the plain view exception does not require the discovery of the evidence be inadvertent or that the officer immediately know the evidence is incriminating, the facts relevant to this analysis were not presented at the suppression hearing. Review is not warranted under these circumstances.

b. The Court of Appeals properly applied the law when evaluating the "plain view" exception.

In addition, the State's analysis is misguided. It argues the Court of Appeals was wrong to rely on the language in *State v. Hudson*, 124 Wn.2d

107, 115, 874 P.2d 160 (1994), to find "the incriminating character of the evidence must be immediately apparent." Petition at 10; Slip Op. at 27. It claims the analysis was different in *Hudson* because that case involved this Court's analysis of the "plain feel" doctrine. Petition at 10. But the standard in *Hudson* was no different from the standard articulated in this Court's plain view cases.

In each instance, the Court requires the nature of the evidence be immediately apparent to the officer, either by sight or touch. *See, e.g. State v. Kull*, 155 Wn.2d 80, 85, 118 P.3d 307 (2005). As the Court of Appeals properly determined, the nature of the evidence was not immediately apparent to Officer Breault because the clothing was bagged in opaque shopping bags and Officer Breault had detected no odor of gasoline or other accelerant coming from the bags. Slip Op. at 27.

Similarly, the State's argument that the "inadvertence" requirement of the plain view exception is no longer required under article I, section 7, relies on an unpublished decision that mischaracterizes this Court's decision in *State v. O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d 564, 582, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). *See*

Petition at 6 (citing *State v. Bunn*, 197 Wn. App. 1004, 2016 WL 7109125 (2016)).⁴

In its unpublished decision in *Bunn*, the Court of Appeals stated this Court had "omitted the inadvertent discovery requirement from its analysis when it applied the plain view exception to the warrant requirement under article I, section 7" in *O'Neill*. 197 Wn. App. 1004, 2016 WL 7109125 at *5. In fact, in *O'Neill* this Court actually stated: "The State does not argue for a different analysis under the state constitution than applies under the federal constitution, and accordingly we apply the 'plain view' analysis that applies under the federal constitution." 148 Wn.2d at 582. This unequivocal statement cannot be reconciled with the analysis is *Bunn* or the State's argument. The State's claim is meritless and review is not warranted.

c. The State misquotes the Court of Appeals' opinion in order to claim the court made a "serious factual error" in evaluating the "exigent circumstances" exception.

The Court of Appeals relied on its prior decision in *City of Seattle* v. *Pearson*, 192 Wn. App. 802, 369 P.3d 194 (2016), to find the "exigent circumstances" exception did not apply to the unlawful seizure of Mr.

⁴ The State also relies heavily on *State v. Myers*, but in *Myers* the court stated the inadvertent discovery of the evidence was a requirement of the plain view doctrine. 117 Wn.2d 332, 346, 815 P.2d 761 (1991); Petition at 6-8.

Morgan's clothing. Slip. Op. at 21. It found the State presented no evidence of what chemicals it suspected might be on the clothing or what the dissipation rates of those chemicals might be. Slip Op. at 23. In addition, it found the State could have easily obtained a telephonic warrant before seizing the clothing. Slip Op. at 22-23. The court's analysis was thoughtful and correct, and the State acknowledges the court applied the correct legal standard. Slip Op. at 21-25; Petition at 12.

Instead, the State argues the court made a factual error when it found Mr. Morgan was "constantly in the presence of police officers" during the time he remained in the hospital room with his bagged clothing. Petition at 13. However, while making this claim the State also concedes the Court of Appeals actually stated Mr. Morgan "was *almost* constantly" in their presence. Petition at 12 (emphasis added).

As the State explains, the officers occasionally stepped out of the room so that medical personnel could attend to Mr. Morgan. Petition at 13. Presumably this is why the Court of Appeals stated Mr. Morgan was "almost constantly" in the officers' presence rather than "constantly" in the officers' presence. *See* Slip Op. at 23, 25. In general, it is not this Court's role to resolve a petty factual dispute, but in this instance the claimed "serious factual error" does not even exist. This Court should deny the State's request for review.

2. If the Court grants review, it should grant review of all of the issues presented in Mr. Morgan's appeal.

a. The prohibition against double jeopardy and criminal rules required dismissal of the charges against Mr. Morgan following the mistrial.

The State repeatedly and intentionally elicited from one of its experts that the fire at Mr. Morgan's home was the result of a deliberate act, despite not revealing this opinion to the defense in discovery, as required by CrR 4.7(a)(2)(ii). RP 950-51; Slip Op. at 10-11.

Mr. Mikala further testified that he had informed the prosecutor of this opinion several months before trial and had spoken with the prosecutor about this conclusion "maybe three or four times." RP 951-52.

The prosecutor offered two explanations for his behavior, both of which were false. First, the prosecutor claimed the State provided the required discovery to the defense. RP 957-58. When this claim was disproven, the prosecutor filed an affidavit under penalty of perjury asserting that, "in the flow of direct examination," he "asked a "concluding question" that "was sloppy, inartful, unfocused" and had "elicited far more" than he had innocently intended. CP 152. As the trial court found, the record revealed the prosecutor's self-serving claim was untrue. RP 999.

The court granted the defense's request for a mistrial but denied Mr. Morgan's subsequent motion to dismiss the charges, allowing the State to retry him. RP 954, 1000-02. On appeal, the question of whether the State committed misconduct is undisputed, but the Court of Appeals declined to reverse and dismiss after failing to apply the reasoning it previously articulated in *State v. Rich*, 63 Wn. App. 743, 746, 821 P2d 1269 (1992); Slip Op. at 12-15.

Double jeopardy protects the right of the defendant to be tried by the jury he selected. *State v. Juarez*, 115 Wn. App. 881, 887, 64 P.3d 83 (2003) (citing *State v. Jones*, 97 Wn.2d 159, 162, 651 P.2d 708 (1982)). Under the Court of Appeals' prior decision in *Rich*, the Court must determine whether the defendant consented to the mistrial in order to evaluate whether dismissal is required. *Id*.

In *Rich*, the defendant failed to initially appear for his trial and the court ordered the parties to proceed over defense counsel's objection. 63 Wn. App. at 745. Mr. Rich appeared after the State rested its case, and defense counsel moved to dismiss on the grounds that the State had failed to prove the identity of the person who committed the alleged crime. *Id.* at 746. The trial court forced Mr. Rich to choose between a mistrial or permitting the State to reopen its case. *Id.* Mr. Rich resisted both options and the trial court granted a mistrial sua sponte. *Id.*

This Court found Mr. Rich was faced with a "Hobson's Choice," meaning no actual choice at all, because allowing the State to reopen its case would clearly prejudice his prospects for acquittal. *Id.* at 748. It held that "[h]is failure to select either of two unfavorable options cannot be considered consent to the declaration of a mistrial." *Id.* Similarly, here, Mr. Morgan moved for the mistrial, but he did so only because his other option was to proceed with a jury that the State had irreparably prejudiced. The State's misconduct forced him to choose between giving up his right to have his trial completed by the particular tribunal he had selected, or permitting the State's actions to prejudice his prospects for acquittal. As in *Rich*, Mr. Morgan was faced with no genuine alternative.

The Court of Appeals distinguished *Rich* because Mr. Rich refused to consent to a mistrial. Slip Op. at 13. But, at its core, the issue in Mr. Morgan's case was no different. Like *Rich*, Mr. Morgan faced an impossible choice. Because Mr. Morgan had no option but to request the mistrial, retrial is barred unless "manifest necessity" prompted the court's ruling. *Juarez*, 115 Wn. App. at 889. However, the State cannot commit misconduct and then claim its own actions created a "manifest necessity." *Id.* Because the State's actions, rather than an emergency, necessitated the discharge of the jury, retrial was barred under the Court of Appeals' prior decisions. *Rich*, 63 Wn. App. at 748; *Juarez*, 115 Wn. App. at 889.

In addition, because the State's conduct was outrageous and Mr. Morgan was prejudiced by the loss of the tribunal he selected, reversal was also required under CrR 4.7(h) and CrR 8.3(b). *See* Op. Br. at 10-18.

If this Court grants review of the State's petition, it should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) because the dismissal of the charges was required under the prohibition against double jeopardy and the criminal rules.

b. Mr. Morgan's statements to the detectives should be suppressed because they did not advise Mr. Morgan of his Miranda rights and the totality of the circumstances demonstrates the interrogation was custodial.

The police must inform a suspect of his right to remain silent and the right to the presence of counsel during any custodial interrogation. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966); *State v. Richmond*, 65 Wn. App. 541, 544, 828 P.2d 1180 (1992); U.S. Const. amend. V; Const. art. I, § 9. The Court of Appeals determined suppression of Mr. Morgan's responses during the interrogation in his hospital room was not required because he was not in police custody at the time. However, in reaching this decision, the Court of Appeals misconstrued the holding of *United States v. Craighead*, 539 F.3d 1073 (9th Cir. 2008). Slip Op. at 33.

The Court of Appeals found the totality of the circumstances test presented in *Craighead* inapplicable because in *Craighead* the interrogation took place in the home. Slip Op. at 33. However, these factors are not limited to an evaluation of an interrogation that takes place in a home. The *Craighead* court found they were appropriate for evaluating the "totality of the circumstances" to determine whether an interrogation "effected a police-dominated atmosphere," in a location outside of a police station. *Craighead*, 539 F.3d at 1083-84. In fact, the court noted an interrogation in the home is *less* likely to be deemed custodial, as opposed to an unfamiliar environment outside of the police station, because the element of compulsion "is less likely to be present where the suspect is in familiar surroundings." *Id.* at 1083.

Here, multiple armed officers were present during the interrogation. Two conducted the interrogation while one stood immediately outside the hospital room door. RP 73, 76, 97, 118, 123. The detectives quickly suspected Mr. Morgan was criminally responsible for his ex-wife's injuries but rather than terminate the interrogation, they

⁵ Under this test the relevant factors are: (1) the number of law enforcement personnel present and whether they were armed; (2) whether the individual was restrained by force or threats; (3) whether the individual was isolated from others; and (4) whether the individual was informed he was free to leave or terminate the interview. *Craighead*, 539 F.3d at 1082-88.

questioned him Mr. Morgan in an increasingly confrontational manner and contacted the on-duty homicide deputy prosecutor to determine how best to proceed. RP 100, 102-03.

Mr. Morgan was also completely isolated in the hospital. Even when medical staff were allowed access to Mr. Morgan, they did so only with the detectives' permission, further contributing to a police-dominated atmosphere. *See Craighead*, 539 F.3d at 1083-84.

Finally, the Court of Appeals improperly disregarded the fact that Mr. Morgan was tethered to medical equipment that made it difficult for him to get out of bed without assistance. CP 13 (Finding of Fact 12). While this Court has not determined whether medical constraints may be considered when determining whether an individual is in custody, other jurisdictions have found that they may. *See e.g.*, *State v. O'Loughlin*, 270 N.J. Super 472, 485-86, 637 A.2d 553 (1994) (suspect in custody where she was not physically restrained but told to "wait" at the hospital); *People v. Turkenich*, 137 A.D.2d 363, 367, 529 N.Y.S.2d 385 (1988) (concluding "the hospital interrogation was conducted in an atmosphere and in physical surrounding which were inherently coercive").

Here the atmosphere in Mr. Morgan's hospital room was coercive.

Multiple armed officers were present in a small room, an officer was
stationed outside Mr. Morgan's door, he was in bed tethered to medical

equipment, and the detectives directly accused him of attempting to kill his ex-wife. All of these facts created a custodial, police-dominated atmosphere. *See Craighead*, 539 F.3d at 1083-84. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

c. The trial court committed reversible error when it denied Mr. Morgan's request to instruct the jury it must presume the fire was the result of an accident or natural causes.

This has held that reversal is required where the trial court refuses to instruct the jury that, when a building is burned, it is presumed the fire was caused by accident or natural causes rather than by an intentional act of the accused. *State v. Smith*, 142 Wash. 57, 59, 252 P. 530 (1927). Here, Mr. Morgan requested this instruction and the trial court denied it, erroneously relying on the fact no pattern instruction was available to deny Mr. Morgan's request. RP 2648; *See State v. Zimmerman*, 130 Wn. App. 170, 182-83, 121 P.3d 1216 (2005) (holding that despite the Washington Supreme Court Committee on Jury Instructions' recommendation against the instruction at issue, the instruction was properly given because it was an accurate statement of the law). Instead, it claims the holding in *Smith* is limited to those cases "in which there is substantial evidence of accidental causation." Resp. Br. at 51.

The Court of Appeals refused to reverse in the absence of "evidence in the record that would support the presumption that the fire was of accidental or natural causes." Slip Op. at 35. But as Mr. Morgan explained in his opening brief, cases that have limited this Court's holding in *Smith* have done so in error. *See State v. Kindred*, 16 Wn. App. 138, 140-41, 553 P.2d 121 (1976); *State v. Picard*, 90 Wn. App. 890, 903, 954 P.2d 336 (1998); Op. Br. at 53-55. Indeed, *Smith* warned against the dangers of withholding the instruction in any case where the State sought to prove the cause of the fire, explaining that the trial court should not examine the sufficiency of the evidence first. 142 Wash. at 58. As the court held, "[t]here is always a presumption that a fire is of accidental origin where the origin is a *contested* issue." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Pursuant to this Court's holding in *Smith*, because Mr. Morgan disputed the origin of the fire, he was entitled to the instruction on the presumption. *Smith*, 142 Wash. at 58. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Smith*.

d. Mr. Morgan was denied a fair trial when the deputy prosecutor shifted the burden of proof to Mr. Morgan and impugned defense counsel during closing argument.

A prosecutor is obligated to ensure a defendant's right to a fair trial is not violated. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1935); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The

prosecutor failed in his duty when he informed the jury, over defense objection, that defense counsel did not appear at witness interviews and Mr. Morgan's theory of the case failed to answer all of the jury's questions. RP 2802, 2805.

The Court of Appeals did not reach this issue because it reversed Mr. Morgan's convictions. Slip Op. at 29. However, if this Court accepts review, it should accept review to determine whether reversal is required due to the State's misconduct during closing argument.

The prosecutor discussed the inconsistencies between Mr. Morgan's statements to detectives and the evidence, but improperly shifted the burden to Mr. Morgan when he told the jury, "[t]he one question that [Mr. Morgan's] explanation that you've heard does not provide for us, was this self-inflicted?"

This statement to the jurors, and the prosecutor's statements elaborating on this question, suggested they should find Mr. Morgan guilty because his statements to police failed to explain what happened that night. Because a defendant has no duty to present evidence, the prosecutor's statements to the jury constituted misconduct. *See State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 467, 258 P.3d 43 (2011); *United States v. Preston*, 873 F.3d 829, 843 (9th Cir. 2017).

In addition, the prosecutor's statement to the jury that defense counsel had failed to show up for the witness interviews suggested to the jury that defense counsel had failed to fulfill his investigatory obligations when he did not attend witness interviews. This statement both shifted the burden to Mr. Morgan and maligned defense counsel. *See State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 431-32, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) (prosecutorial statements that malign defense counsel are impermissible). This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

The State has failed to satisfy the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and its petition for review should be denied. If this Court grants review, it should also review of the other issues presented by Mr. Morgan on appeal.